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          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I'm

          3  Councilman Hiram Monserrate. Welcome to the Veterans

          4  Committee hearing today, October 20th. Today we will

          5  be hearing testimony regarding Introduction 688, to

          6  amend the New York City Charter in relation to

          7  establishing a Chairperson for the Veterans Advisory

          8  Board.

          9                 In 1987, the New York City Veterans

         10  Advisory Board was established through an amendment

         11  to the City Charter.

         12                 In its original form, the Board

         13  consisted of five members, three of whom were

         14  appointed by the Mayor and two of whom were

         15  appointed by the Speaker of the City Council.

         16                 In 2002, a local law expanded the

         17  Board to nine members, each of them must be a

         18  veteran. The purpose of the Veterans Advisory Board

         19  has always been to provide veterans with the

         20  platform to voice concerns regarding City policies

         21  that impact this community.

         22                 Additionally, the directive of the

         23  Mayor's Office of Veterans' Affairs, also known as

         24  MOVA, receives the advice offered by the advisory

         25  board.
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          2                 Throughout the years, a number of

          3  veterans and others have sought to improve the

          4  functioning and operating efficiency of the Advisory

          5  Board.

          6                 Some have stated that the appointment

          7  of a Chairperson will provide the impetus needed to

          8  re-energize this body and to allow it to fulfill its

          9  mission as an Internal Governmental Advocate for

         10  Veterans Concerns.

         11                 So, during this hearing, the

         12  Committee will receive testimony regarding Intro.

         13  688. However, no vote on this measure will be taken

         14  at this hearing.

         15                 At this point I'd like to call our

         16  first witness.

         17                 MS. JOYNES: Good afternoon, everyone.

         18  Chairman Monserrate, Council Member Gerson, and

         19  everyone here present for the hearings today. My

         20  name is Clarice Joynes, and I'm the Executive

         21  Director at the Mayor's Office of Veterans' Affairs,

         22  and basically, I just have a very short statement.

         23                 In regard to Introduction No. 688,

         24  which will add, "The Mayor shall appoint one such

         25  member to serve as Chairperson of the Board," the
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          2  Veterans Advisory Board has been an asset to the

          3  Mayor's Office of Veterans' Affairs, and we most

          4  definitely look forward to establishing a

          5  chairperson to the Veterans Advisory Board, which

          6  would be a benefit to the Board.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 We have questions.

         11                 MS. JOYNES: Sure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay. The

         13  first question is, how often has the Veterans

         14  Advisory Board met in the past year?

         15                 MS. JOYNES: In the past year we have

         16  had two meetings, and we'll be having another

         17  meeting on the 24th of this month. And we have one

         18  more meeting before the end of the year.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Is the 24th

         20  of this month the last meeting or is there another

         21  one?

         22                 MS. JOYNES: No. There is going to be

         23  another one before the end of the year. The date and

         24  time has yet to be determined.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay. If you
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          2  can give us a brief description of what issues have

          3  been discussed at the Advisory Board meetings?

          4                 MS. JOYNES: Yes. The most important

          5  issue that has been discussed has been the capital

          6  asset realignment for enhanced services in regards

          7  to the veterans hospitals here in the New York City

          8  area.

          9                 I am a panel member on the local

         10  advisory panel for that hearing, and as a veterans

         11  advisory board, we have discussed the measures that

         12  are going to take place for the hospitals, and how

         13  we would like to see the Secretary of Veterans'

         14  Affairs move forward in improving services for the

         15  veterans in the New York City area.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: In your

         17  opinion, how is the lack of a Chairperson hindered

         18  the Advisory Board's work?

         19                 MS. JOYNES: Well, right now I

         20  understand that the role of a chairperson will be

         21  able to give the Board the ability to call meetings

         22  and be able to take care of the administrative side

         23  of the Veterans Advisory Board.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: So you're in

         25  support of this bill?
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          2                 MS. JOYNES: Yes, most definitely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I think

          4  that's great testimony. Thank you very much.

          5                 MS. JOYNES: You're very welcome.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That's it.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 Okay, I'm going to call up the next

          9  two witnesses as a panel.

         10                 James Reilly, from Astoria USA, and

         11  Joe Bello. Joe, come on up.

         12                 Good afternoon to you both. You are

         13  very active and very willing to come forward and

         14  advocate on behalf of the veterans. To that end, I

         15  thank you both. I look forward to hearing your

         16  testimony.

         17                 MR. REILLY: Thank you. While it would

         18  seem obvious that the Veterans Advisory Board should

         19  have a chairperson, it should rightly also be

         20  obvious in the City of New York that such a

         21  Chairperson should be willing and capable of

         22  representing the needs and rights of all veterans in

         23  their full diversity, hence such an appointment

         24  should be subject to the advice and consent of the

         25  City Council, rather than the simple unquestioned
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          2  choice of the Mayor.

          3                 While the City Charter is being

          4  amended in this matter, we suggest that the section

          5  further be amended to provide that members of the

          6  Veterans Advisory Board not simply represent each

          7  borough, but rather should be representative of the

          8  ethnic and cultural diversity of American veterans

          9  residing in the City of New York.

         10                 Thus, the Board should be required to

         11  consist of female and male representatives, black,

         12  white, Hispanic, gay, Asian, and should also include

         13  representatives of the young service members just

         14  now returning from duty in Iraq, Vietnam vets, as

         15  well as senior veterans of America's greatest

         16  generation, those who served in World War II.

         17                 While we are all veterans, the needs

         18  and rights to benefits vary for each group, and all

         19  must have viable active advocacy on such a board.

         20                 We, therefore, submit that the

         21  section relating to the Veterans Advisory Board be

         22  more fully amended to reflect the changes suggested

         23  herein.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.
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          2  Let me just say for the record that we have been

          3  actually speaking to changing that, it's quite

          4  possibly an amendment for the final bill and the

          5  final vote.

          6                 Joe Bello.

          7                 MR. BELLO: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Joe, before

          9  you go forward, I know you gave us a PO box, what

         10  neighborhood is that?

         11                 MR. BELLO: Flushing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Flushing,,

         13  USA.

         14                 MR. BELLO: You got it, born and

         15  raised.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I love

         17  Flushing. I actually patrolled in the 109th Precinct

         18  for awhile.

         19                 I'm still on the record, so proceed

         20  with your testimony.

         21                 MR. BELLO: Okay, thank you. Thank

         22  you, Mr. Chairman, and Committee members. Thank you

         23  for giving me the opportunity to appear today and

         24  speak on Intro. 688.

         25                 As you are aware, Councilman Mike
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          2  Nelson introduced Local Law 45 and was instrumental

          3  in its passing, which expanded the Board to nine

          4  members, and required each member to be a military

          5  veteran, as well as having one representative from

          6  each of the City's five boroughs.

          7                 As was stated at this Committee at

          8  its May 16th, 2005 hearing, many advocates,

          9  including myself, have expressed concern that the

         10  Board has not been effective.

         11                 Also, as was stated by this

         12  Committee's own briefing paper of May 16th, the

         13  Advisory Board has failed to hold regularly

         14  scheduled meetings, has had no discernible agenda

         15  and has been generally unproductive.

         16                 As the Director just stated before

         17  she left, the VAB has only met a number of times

         18  within the last year and a half, and the Director of

         19  MOVA seemed to call for meetings when this Committee

         20  began to either set up a hearing or to ask

         21  questions, and sadly, the first five selections to

         22  this Veterans Advisory Board were appointed on May

         23  23rd, 2002, have completed their three-year term

         24  this past May, and since then neither the Mayor, nor

         25  the Speaker, has either reappointed or made any

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  appointments to this Board. In short, the Board as

          3  it currently stands has only four active members.

          4                 Therefore, in looking at Intro. 688,

          5  I would like for the Committee to consider changing

          6  and expanding the bill.

          7                 First of all, it has already been

          8  established that both the Mayor and the Speaker make

          9  selections to this Board. Therefore, I would like to

         10  see this bill include language that not only allows

         11  for the Mayor to select a Chair, but which would

         12  allow the Speaker to select a Vice Chair.

         13                 It cannot be assumed that the Chair

         14  can attend every meeting or won't have something

         15  happen that would prevent him or her from performing

         16  the duties as Chair.

         17                 In short, having both a Chair and a

         18  Vice Chair will not put the burden of running the

         19  VAB on one individual's shoulders.

         20                 Therefore, Vice Chair would seem to

         21  be in order, and keep a balance of inclusion on the

         22  Board, between the Mayor and the Speaker.

         23                 I would also like for this Committee

         24  to consider a term change to this bill.

         25                 Currently the City Charter and this
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          2  bill read that each term is for three years.

          3                 This is a problem, because as I

          4  stated before, the first five members of the

          5  Advisory Board completed their three-year terms

          6  already, with the Mayor and Speaker neither

          7  reappointing nor appointing new individuals.

          8                 Also, within an election year, it is

          9  conceivable that neither the Mayor nor the Speaker

         10  will make any new appointments until after the

         11  general election or even after the holidays.

         12  Therefore, it would be more constructive if each

         13  were for four years with two-year intervals in

         14  between, to begin before you the Memorial Veterans

         15  Day. That would be like a set date.

         16                 This would allow each member to serve

         17  four years, but would allow the Mayor and the

         18  Speaker to make reappointments or to appoint new

         19  members every two.

         20                 As an example, this would be like the

         21  Olympics where the summer games are held one year

         22  and then two years down the road there's the winter

         23  games, and then two years after that it's the summer

         24  games returned. It's still four years, you're just

         25  having intervals in between.
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          2                 Lastly, MOVA is mandated to inform

          3  members of the armed forces, veterans and their

          4  families, about education, retraining, medical and

          5  other services.

          6                 MOVA is also required to inform

          7  veterans about federal, state and local laws and

          8  regulation pertaining to veterans.

          9                 In this regard, MOVA has not done a

         10  good job, and by extension, the VAB has not done

         11  well here also.

         12                 MOVA and the Veterans' Advisory Board

         13  are supposed to be a partnership with information

         14  issues, traveling back and forth between the Mayor

         15  and the community.

         16                 Therefore, I would like this

         17  Committee to consider putting some kind of oversight

         18  piece into place.

         19                 I bring up the term oversight for the

         20  simple fact that when a new Speaker comes in, we

         21  don't know what's going to happen to this Committee.

         22  It is one thing to appoint members of the Veterans

         23  Advisory Board, another to have nothing accomplished

         24  and then possibly have MOVA and the Veterans

         25  Advisory Board point fingers at each other, with
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          2  MOVA stating that it only has three people in the

          3  office.

          4                 In conclusion, the Veterans Advisory

          5  Board can do great work, however, it needs

          6  individuals who will take up issues without fear or

          7  prejudice and work to help the entire veterans

          8  community.

          9                 I believe this can be done. Thank you

         10  for your time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         12  Joe.

         13                 I have a quick question. I want to

         14  recognize our colleague from Queens, Tony Avella,

         15  who has joined us.

         16                 So, you're saying, to your knowledge,

         17  are there any vacancies current? I know that they

         18  have not been reappointed, but are there vacancies?

         19                 MR. BELLO: As far as I'm aware,

         20  unless there's something different, there's five

         21  vacancies right now. Because their terms ended May

         22  23rd, 2005.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: But are they

         24  still on the board, even though they haven't been

         25  reappointed?
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          2                 MR. BELLO: I would assume the way it

          3  would work, I guess they would stay on board until I

          4  guess the Mayor and the Speaker decided to either

          5  reappoint them, or appoint new people in their

          6  place.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: When is the

          8  expiration in their term?

          9                 MR. BELLO: May 23rd.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: May 23rd.

         11                 MR. REILLY: Last May.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: James, you

         13  have anything to add to that?

         14                 MR. REILLY: No.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Do you know

         16  if any of them are not participating anymore? They

         17  haven't been?

         18                 MR. REILLY: To the best of my

         19  knowledge, there has been no participation by any of

         20  the five since last May, and with the one from the

         21  Bronx, not even before that.

         22                 MR. BELLO: But in their defense also,

         23  I will say that a lot of them are active in the

         24  veterans community. I know Mr. Covino is here, he's

         25  on the Board and he's active. John Rowan, who is now
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          2  the national president of the Vietnam Veterans of

          3  America.

          4                 So, as individuals they're very

          5  active in the community, but as the Board, you know,

          6  again, their terms ended in May. So, I don't know.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Hold on one

          8  second.

          9                 I know that Al Mullen is here from

         10  the Mayor's Office. Can you perhaps enlighten us to,

         11  when she said that they met twice in the past year,

         12  do you know when the last meeting was?

         13                 Who are you, sir, for the record?

         14                 MR. COVINO: Lee Covino, from Staten

         15  Island.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay, so

         17  we're going to call you up in a minute and you can

         18  answer the questions and you can give us some

         19  insight.

         20                 So, no reappointments.

         21                 MR. BELLO: No new appointments.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: We don't know

         23  when the last meeting was. We're going to ask that

         24  question of the next panelist.

         25                 Is there anything more you want to
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          2  add? Let me just say for the record, as you know,

          3  there will probably be a change or two to this bill

          4  as it is currently drafted, and we'll be moving to

          5  pass this out of Committee very, very swiftly.

          6                 And today the purpose here is to try

          7  to get the advisory board to actually do what they

          8  should be doing. That's the ultimate goal.

          9                 So, I want to thank you both for your

         10  testimony. If you'd please stay around a few

         11  minutes, I'd like to talk to you.

         12                 MR. BELLO: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Hold on one

         14  minute. Council Member Gerson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just a brief

         16  comment. First, for the record, I need you to know

         17  that Mr. Reilly holds a position in our Council

         18  District Office, he does an outstanding job, for the

         19  record.

         20                 And then as long as I have the mic, I

         21  would just add, there is nothing worse for the

         22  proper function of government in any particular

         23  agency or board than leaving vacancies, especially

         24  such a high proportion of vacancies unfulfilled.

         25  Even if the folks are staying on, it kind of puts
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          2  them in a limbo situation. There's just nothing

          3  worse, especially in an area that is so important to

          4  so many people who are so deserving.

          5                 So, I appreciate that you brought

          6  this to our attention. I think, Mr. Chair, as you

          7  pointed out, we have many fine suggestions that we

          8  need to consider before we move on this bill. And I

          9  want to thank you all.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         11                 Thank you, gentlemen.

         12                 Sir, please come up and identify

         13  yourself, and share with us your thoughts on this

         14  issue.

         15                 MR. COVINO: Good afternoon. My name

         16  is Lee Covino.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Lee Covino.

         18                 MR. COVINO: I'm from Staten Island,

         19  but born and raised in Queens.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: What part of

         21  Queens?

         22                 MR. COVINO: Flushing, Bayside,

         23  Whitestone.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Flushing rules

         25  today.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Flushing was

          3  the 109 and Bayside was the 111th. I worked in both

          4  precincts, by the way.

          5                 MR. COVINO: And I kidnapped my

          6  girlfriend after I got back from the service from

          7  Bayside, and we both went to Staten Island.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: You are here

          9  in what capacity?

         10                 MR. COVINO: My capacity today would

         11  be I guess as a representative of the Borough

         12  President of Staten Island.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Are you a

         14  member of the Board?

         15                 MR. COVINO: I am one of the original

         16  five members of the VAB, and I'm a Mayoral

         17  appointee.

         18                 And two thoughts come immediately to

         19  my mind. One would be that the agendas and the

         20  minutes of each meeting should be shared by MOVA,

         21  with both the Veterans Affairs Committee and the

         22  Speaker, since several of the appointments come from

         23  the Council side.

         24                 I think if you were to obtain those

         25  minutes that you would see we have covered a lot of
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          2  territory.

          3                 You would also see that the VAB put

          4  forward their own draft procedures and protocols,

          5  including a Chair, many months ago.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: So, my

          7  question, when was the last meeting of the Board?

          8                 MR. COVINO: I think the last meeting,

          9  I don't have my appointment book with me.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: An estimate.

         11                 MR. COVINO: About two months ago.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: It was two

         13  months ago, and the meeting before that?

         14                 MR. COVINO: It's almost like a

         15  quarterly type of schedule, in my opinion.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: A quarterly?

         17                 MR. COVINO: Like every three months.

         18  Somethings an extra month in the summer, you know.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: You had two

         20  meetings and it's October, so it's not really like a

         21  quarter.

         22                 MR. COVINO: Right. They're making one

         23  up I guess this year. But we have had several and a

         24  lot of the things, I've been before this Committee

         25  in the past --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Yes, you

          3  have.

          4                 MR. COVINO: -- Testifying for

          5  contracts and employment emphasis for veterans,

          6  those items and issues have been frontloaded into

          7  the VAB, as well. But where they go from there, I

          8  think, that's why I think it's important rather than

          9  have a vacuum that the minutes and the back-up go to

         10  the Council side as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Great.

         12                 Any questions from the members of the

         13  Committee?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Another good

         15  idea.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay.

         17                 Thank you very much, gentlemen. I

         18  think we're going to call a close to the hearing,

         19  and like I said, we will be reviewing, making a few

         20  changes, and we're going to make an effort to the

         21  other members of the Committee and have this next

         22  hearing probably within the next three weeks, so

         23  that we can vote this out and make sure that it gets

         24  done before the end of the cycle.

         25                 Thank you all for attending. Thank
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          2  you to my colleagues here, and have a good

          3  afternoon.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 1:35 p.m.)
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